United States Court of Appeals,
El eventh Circuit.
No. 94-5300.
Fernando Al berto ORTEGA, Plaintiff-Appellant,
V.

W CHRI STI AN, O ficer, individually, and as police officer for
Met ro- Dade Police Departnent; Fred Taylor, individually as
Director/Chief of Police of Metro-Dade Police Departnent, Metro-
Dade Police Departnent, a political subdivision of Dade County,
Fl ori da, Defendants- Appel |l ee.

June 25, 1996.
Appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern
District of Florida. (No. 94-965-ClV-JLK), Janmes Law ence King,
Judge.

Bef ore HATCHETT and BARKETT, Circuit Judges, and OAKES, Senior
Circuit Judge.

HATCHETT, Circuit Judge:

Appel lant, Fernando Al berto Otega, appeals the district
court's order granting a judgnent on the pleadings in favor of
appel l ees, Oficer Wlliam Christian, Chief Fred Taylor, and the
Met ro- Dade Police Departnent on his clains for false arrest and
fal se inprisonment under 42 U . S.C. § 1983. W reverse.

FACTS

On January 21, 1992, the Metro-Dade Police Departnent (NDPD)
received a report of a robbery and ki dnapping. On January 23,
1992, a confidential informant informed the MOPD and O ficer
Christian that an organized group of which he was a nenber
commtted the robbery. The informant stated that he knew the

menber who conmitted the robbery, provided the address of the

"Honorabl e Janmes L. Oakes, Senior U.S. Circuit Judge for the
Second Circuit, sitting by designation.



al l eged robber's residence, and proceeded with Christian to that
address. That address belonged to Ortega' s brother.

Upon arrival at the address, the informant identified Otega
and his brother as the nen who conmtted the robbery. Christian
i medi ately arrested both nmen and searched the residence. Otega
procl ai med his innocence and requested an opportunity to prove a
case of mstaken identity. Christian refused to conply wth
Otega' s request and failed to make any inquiries into the clains
of innocence. The MDPD held Ortega in custody for five nonths
wi thout bond until Otega' s bond hearing on June 3, 1992. At the
bond hearing, the court ordered the rel ease of Ortega fromcustody.

The victim of the robbery never identified Otega as the
person who conmtted the robbery. Otega, however, repeatedly
procl ai med his i nnocence and denmanded an opportunity to appear in
a line-up or a photo spread. The MDPD schedul ed and cancel | ed
Otega for a |line-up or photo spread on three separate
occasi ons—April 24, April 30, and May 14—during the five nonths of
hi s incarceration.

PROCEDURAL HI STORY

On April 22, 1994, Otega filed a conplaint in the state
courts against Oficer WIlliam Christian, in his individual
capacity, Chief Fred Taylor, in his individual capacity, and the
Met r o- Dade Pol i ce Departnment, seeki ng damages pursuant to 42 U. S. C.
§ 1983 and comon law on clains of false arrest and false
i mprisonnment. The appel | ees-defendants renoved the case fromstate
court to federal court. Accepting as true the facts presented in

Otega's conplaint, the appellees filed a notion for judgnent on



the pleadings. After a tinme extension, Otega filed a nmenorandum
in opposition to appellees' notion for judgnment on the pleadi ngs.
The district court granted appellees' notion for judgnent on the
pl eadi ngs finding that probable cause existed to arrest Otega;
therefore, Ortega could not prevail on a false arrest claimunder
common | aw or section 1983. Additionally, the district court held
that Ortega's fal se inprisonnment claim which was predicated on the
false arrest claim failed under common |aw and section 1983
Otega filed a tinely notion for reconsideration of the order
which the district court denied.
CONTENTI ONS

Ortega contends that Christian | acked probabl e cause to arrest
hi mbecause Christian had no information that could have | ed himto
believe that Ortega participated in the robbery, or lived at the
address that the informant provided. Next, Otega contends that
his detention, which followed the unlawful arrest, violated his
constitutional rights under section 1983, and that his fal se arrest
claimis separate and distinct fromhis false inprisonnment claim

Appel | ees, on the other hand, argue that the facts alleged in
the conmplaint show that Christian had probable cause to arrest
Otega and that probable cause is a conplete defense to both
Otega's false arrest and fal se inprisonnment clains.

| SSUES

The i ssues we address are: (1) whether Christian had probabl e
cause to arrest Otega and (2) whether Otega' s detention
constituted a false inprisonment.

DI SCUSSI ON



The district court granted appell ees’ notions for judgnent on
the pleadings against Otega and denied Otega' s notion for
reconsi derati on. The district court found that Christian had
probabl e cause to arrest Otega, thus, precluding Otega' s false
arrest and i nprisonnent cl ainms under section 1983. Judgnent on the
pl eadi ngs i s proper when no issues of material fact exist, and the
nmovant is entitled to judgnent as a matter of law Fed.R G v.P.
12(c). Wen reviewi ng a judgnment on the pleadi ngs, we accept the
facts in the conplaint as true and view themin the |ight nost
favorable to the nonnoving party. Swerdloff v. Mam National
Bank, 584 F.2d 54, 57 (5th Cr.1978); Ceneral Conference Corp. of
Sevent h-Day Adventists v. Seventh-Day Adventist Congregational
Church, 887 F.2d 228, 230 (9th Gr.1989)." Accordingly, a judgnent
on the pleadings is a decision on the nerits, and we review it de
novo. General Conference Corp., 887 F.2d at 230.

A. Fal se Arrest

A warrantless arrest wthout probable cause violates the
Fourth Amendnent and forns a basis for a section 1983 claim Marx
v. Gunbi nner, 905 F.2d 1503, 1505 (11th G r.1990). An arrest nade
wi th probable cause, however, constitutes an absolute bar to a
section 1983 action for false arrest. Marx, 905 F.2d at 1505.
Probabl e cause to arrest exists if the facts and circunstances
within the officer's knowl edge, of which he has reasonably

trustworthy information, would cause a prudent person to believe,
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under the circunstances shown, that the suspect has conmtted or is
comm tting an of fense. Marx, 905 F.2d at 1505. Probabl e cause
does not require overwhelmngly convincing evidence, but only
"reasonably trustworthy information." Marx, 905 F.2d at 1506
(citing Beck v. Chio, 379 U S 89, 91, 8 S . C. 223, 225-26, 13
L. Ed. 2d 142 (1964)). In this case, we nust determ ne whether a
reasonable officer in the sane circunstances and possessing the
same know edge as Christian coul d have believed that probabl e cause
existed to arrest Otega for the suspected robbery. Pi ckens v.
Hol | owel |, 59 F.3d 1203, 1206 (11th Cir.1995).

As a basis for a finding of probable cause, Christian relied
on information from a confidential informant identifying the
perpetrator of a crine. Otega argues that informant information
al one cannot sufficiently support a finding of probable cause. In
determ ning whether an informant's tip rises to the level of
probabl e cause, we assess the totality of the circunstances.
United States v. Conzalez, 969 F.2d 999, 1002 (1ith G r.1992);
United States v. Canpbell, 920 F.2d 793, 796-97 (11th G r.1991).

We consider the relevance of factors such as the informant's

"veracity," "reliability,"” and "basis of know edge." Gonzal ez, 969
F.2d at 1003 (citing Illinois v. Gates, 462 U S. 213, 230, 103
S.CG. 2317, 2328, 76 L.Ed.2d 527 (1983)). In addition, the

corroboration of the details of an informant's tip through
i ndependent police work adds significant value to the probable
cause analysis. Gonzalez, 969 F.2d at 1003.

In this case, we find that the informant's tip |acked

essential elenents that would have given Christian probabl e cause



to believe Ortega participated in the robbery. Appellees argue
that the information Christian received from the informant
establ i shed probabl e cause because the informant nade statenents
against his penal interests and as a nenber of the gang had
personal know edge of the perpetrators. First, making a statenent
against one's penal interests without nore will not raise an
informant's tip to the | evel of probable cause required under the
Fourth Amendnent. United States v. Martin, 615 F.2d 318, 325 (5th
Cir.1980). Second, no evidence in the conplaint denonstrates a
past history between the i nformant and Christian or the MDPD, which
could lend support for the informant's veracity and reliability.
Third, although the informant admtted having nenbership in the
gang, no evidence shows that the informant actually knew Otega,
that Otega belonged to the gang, that a gang existed, or that
Ortega participated in the comm ssion of the crine. United States
v. Reyes, 792 F.2d 536, 539 (5th Gir.1986) ("an informant's tip is
buttressed [through] the fact that it is based on his own personal
observation rather than hearsay"). Lastly, the conplaint does not
reveal that Christian took any i ndependent steps to i nvestigate the
informant's tip or had any evidence prior to arresting Otega which
woul d have corroborated the informant's identification of Otega as
a perpetrator in the conmssion of the crime. Gonzalez, 969 F.2d
at 1003; see also Jones v. United States, 362 U S. 257, 269, 80
S.CG. 725, 735, 4 L.Ed.2d 697 (1960) (an officer "may rely upon
information received through an informant ... so long as the
informant's statenent is reasonably corroborated [through] other

matters wthin the officer's know edge.").



For the foregoing reasons, we hold that Christian |acked
probabl e cause to arrest and detain Otega. Cf. Swint v. Gty of
Wadl ey, 51 F.3d 988, 996-98 (11th G r.1995) (probable cause to
arrest and detain one suspect does not extend to another person in
mere propinquity to that suspect). W also hold that Otega has
made a valid false arrest claim under section 1983 against
Christian. W dismss, however, the false arrest clains against
Tayl or and the MDPD. Tayl or and the MDPD cannot be held |iable for
t he unreasonable actions that Christian, the arresting officer
pursued. No evidence exists here that indicates Taylor or the NMDPD
approved of Christian's decision to arrest based on the |[imted
i nformati on he possessed. HIll v. difton, 74 F.3d 1150, 1152
(11th Gr.1996) ("A city may be held responsible where the
aut hori zed pol i cymakers "approve a subordi nate's deci sion and basi s
for it." "); Cannon v. Macon County, 1 F.3d 1558, 1565 ("it is
difficult to see how the Sheriff would have final authority over
who each deputy arrest and whether a deputy has probabl e cause to
arrest and/or hold arrestee” (quoting Cannon v. Macon County, 90V-
1132-E (Dec. 19, 1990))).

B. False Inprisonment of Ortega

Because we have already determned that Christian |acked
probable cause to arrest Otega, we now hold that Otega's
detention pursuant to that arrest constituted fal se inprisonnment
under section 1983.

A detention on the basis of a false arrest presents a viable
section 1983 action. Reeves v. Cty of Jackson, 608 F.2d 644 (5th

Cir.1979) (section 1983 clainms for false arrest and false



i mprisonnment presented where, wthout probable cause, officers
arrested and detai ned stroke victimin belief he was intoxicated);
see also Cannon, 1 F.3d at 1562 ("a detention on the basis of
m sidentification may present a viable section 1983 clainf). A
false inprisonnment claim under section 1983 is based on the
protection of the Fourteenth Anmendnent against deprivations of
liberty without due process of |law. Baker v. MCollan, 443 U. S
137, 142, 99 S. Ct. 2689, 2693-94, 61 L.Ed.2d 433 (1979). \Were a
police officer | acks probabl e cause to nake an arrest, the arrestee
has a claimunder section 1983 for false inprisonnent based on a
detention pursuant to that arrest. Goman v. Township of
Manal apan, 47 F.3d 628, 636 (3d Cr.1995). This false inprisonnent
cl ai m under section 1983 is grounded in the Fourth Amendnent's
guar ant ee agai nst unreasonabl e seizures. Gonman, 47 F.3d at 636
see al so Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U. S. 103, 125, 95 S.C. 854, 868-69,
43 L.Ed.2d 54 (1975) (The Fourth Anendment requires a tinely
judicial determ nation of probable cause as a prerequisite to
detention of a prisoner arrested upon information filed by the
state prosecutor). Additionally, we note that, under certain
circunstances, a detention following a valid arrest may present a
vi abl e section 1983 cl ai mwhere the detai nee protests the detention
on the basis of msidentification. Cannon, 1 F.3d at 1562 (citing
Baker v. MCollan, 443 U.S. 137, 145, 99 S.Ct. 2689, 2694-95, 61
L. Ed. 2d 433 (1979)).

Under section 1983, Ortega nust neet the el enents of conmon
| aw fal se i npri sonment and establish that the i nprisonnent resulted

in a violation of due process rights under the Fourteenth



Anendnent.? Cannon, 1 F.3d at 1562-63 (citing Douthit v. Jones,
619 F.2d 527 (5th Cr.1980). The conplaint contains facts that
satisfy the section 1983 standard for false inprisonnent. The
conpl aint denonstrates that as a result of the unlawful arrest,
appel l ees detained Ortega for five nonths w thout conducting a
line-up or affording other opportunities for him to prove his
i nnocence. Otega had a constitutional right to be free from
detention where the circunstances and facts wunder Christian's
consi deration denonstrated that Christian clearly |acked probable
cause to make an arrest. Cannon, 1 F.3d at 1563. In |light of the
sparse i nformati on Christian had when he nade the arrest, Christian
knew or shoul d have known that the inprisonnment of Ortega may have
constituted an unlawful inprisonnment under section 1983 1in
viol ation of the Fourteenth Amendnent. Cannon, 1 F.3d at 1563.
Fromthe facts and lawin this case, we hold that Ortega has
established a valid fal se inprisonnent claimunder § 1983 agai nst
Christian. As to the claimagainst Taylor and the MDPD, we cannot
determne from the facts as set forth in the conplaint whether
those parties are subject to section 1983 liability for Otega's
detention. Although Otega sinply makes "boil erplate all egations”
about those parties' involvenent, we remain uncertain about all of
the circunstances surrounding Otega's five nonth detention.
Sivard v. Pul aski County, 959 F.2d 662, 668-669 (7th Cir.1992). W
believe that Ortega' s vague all egations sufficiently state a cause

of action requiring further proceedings to fully develop the

‘rtega nust prove (1) intent to confine, (2) acts resulting
in confinenment, and (3) consciousness of the victim of
confinement or resulting harm



record. Sivard, 959 F.2d at 668. Accordingly, we hold that Tayl or
and the MDPD are not entitled to judgnent as a matter of |aw at the
pl eadi ngs stage on the fal se i npri sonnent cl ai munder section 1983.
Swint, 51 F.3d at 999-1000; Swerdloff, 584 F.2d at 60; Sivard,
959 F.2d at 668-69 (reversing summary judgnent because of the
"inexplicable nature of [plaintiff's] detention").
C. Qualified Immunity and Otega' s Section 1983 d ai ns

Due to the posture of the case, the district court did not
di scuss qualified immunity. Consequently, that issue is not ripe
for our review

CONCLUSI ON

For the foregoi ng reasons, we concl ude that Ortega established
valid clainms of false arrest and fal se inprisonnment under section
1983 agai nst Christian. W affirm the dism ssal of the false
arrest claim against Taylor and the MDPD and remand the false
i mprisonnment clai munder section 1983 agai nst Taylor and the MDPD
for further proceedi ngs.

REVERSED and REMANDED.



